Links between natural environments, learning and health: evidence briefing

First published September 2022

Natural England Evidence Information Note EIN063



Natural England Evidence Information Note EIN063

Links between natural environments, learning and health: evidence briefing

Professor Justin Dillon & Dr Becca Lovell (University of Exeter)



September 2022

This report is published by Natural England under the Open Government Licence -OGLv3.0 for public sector information. You are encouraged to use, and reuse, information subject to certain conditions. For details of the licence visit Copyright. Natural England photographs are only available for non-commercial purposes. If any other information such as maps or data cannot be used commercially this will be made clear within the report.

© Natural England 2022

Project details

This report should be cited as:

Dillon, J. & Lovell, R. 2022. Links between natural environments, learning and health: evidence briefing. Natural England Evidence Information Note. EIN063.

Natural England Project manager

Martin Gilchrist

Contractor

University of Exeter

Authors

Professor Justin Dillon, University of Exeter

Dr Becca Lovell, University of Exeter

Keywords

outdoor learning, learning in natural environments, learning outside the classroom, health and wellbeing

Further information

This report can be downloaded from the Natural England Access to Evidence Catalogue: http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/. For information on Natural England publications contact the Natural England Enquiry Service on 0300 060 3900 or e-mail enquiries@naturalengland.org.uk.

Contents

Purpose of briefing5
Summary statement5
Review of the evidence
What is the impact of learning in the natural environments on educational, social and developmental outcomes?
What is the impact of natural spaces in or around the learning environment on learning and associated outcomes?'
What are the impacts of the use of natural environments for learning on inequalities, socio-demographic, gender and other factors?8
What is the cost effectiveness of learning in natural environments?
What are the impacts of learning in and around natural environments on health outcomes?10
Strengths and limitations of the evidence base13
Implications for policy, service delivery and research13
Policy and service delivery13
Research14
References15

Purpose of briefing

This briefing note is one of a series that summarises evidence of the relationships between the natural environment and a range of outcomes. This briefing focuses on the impacts of learning in natural environments and the impacts of natural environments on learning processes and outcomes and health. The briefing updates the original evidence briefing (EIN017) published in 2016. The notes are aimed at: policy makers, practitioners, practice enablers (including Natural England), local decision makers, and the wider research community. They highlight some of the implications for future policy, service delivery and research. It is intended that they will inform practitioner planning, targeting and rationales, but not the identification of solutions or design of interventions. Barriers to access or use of natural environments are not considered in this note. The notes consider evidence of relevance to the UK and outcomes for both adults and children. Please see EIN016 for methodology, glossary and evaluation resources.

Summary statement

For some time, there has been a substantial body of evidence supporting a positive association between engagement with the natural environment and a diverse range of learning processes and outcomes, including educational, social, developmental and health outcomes. Over the last 10-15 years, the quality of the research in this area and the robustness of the findings have significantly improved. There is now more evidence available on individual outcomes, how these are enabled, and on whether these outcomes are more likely to be delivered through learning outdoors, or through a combination of learning indoors and outdoors, than solely in the classroom. Evidence continues to suggest that a greater quantity of natural environments in or around the living or educational setting is associated with positive learning, behavioural and emotional processes and outcomes as well as health benefits. Most of the evidence continues to relate to children of school age. While a significant number of high quality studies and reviews have been carried out, there are still too many studies which are short term and relatively small scale, and which do not adjust for confounders and sources of bias. There is still a need for more focused evidence for particular population subgroups, outcomes, and delivery approaches, although this has improved since the original briefing was published.

Review of the evidence

What is the impact of learning in the natural environments on educational, social and developmental outcomes?

There is a substantial body of evidence, including several systematic reviews, which demonstrates positive associations between a number of teaching approaches and learning opportunities in the natural environment (including in the school grounds, Forest Schools, award schemes and immersive nature experiences) and a range of learning processes and outcomes (including motivation, attendance and achievement), but also wider social and psychological outcomes that may be linked to these particularly in the short term [1-14]. The majority of evidence regarding teaching and learning in natural environments comes from studies involving school children and their teachers.

Much of the evidence is drawn from small-scale studies with, in the case of the quantitative studies, little use of control groups or accounting for the multiple sources of potential bias [5]. This is invariably because they are evaluations of particular interventions rather than primarily research studies. Nevertheless, many of these studies have a sound theoretical base and use robust research techniques resulting in findings that may, in similar circumstances be generalisable. Together evidence has shown that:

With respect to outcomes:

- School students engaged in learning in natural environments have been found to have higher achievement (in comparison to their peers or projected attainment) in reading, mathematics, science and social studies, exhibiting enhanced progress in Physical Education and drama, and a greater motivation for studying science [1-10]. Longer term and 'progressive' experiences appear to result in the greatest benefits and children with below average achievement have tended to make progress in learning outcomes to the greatest degree [4].
- Regular exposure to education outside the classroom has been found to be associated with improvement in intrinsic **motivation** [7]. The results were independent of gender and socio-economic status. A German study found that education outside the classroom can support improvements in school motivation which could contribute to an improvement in children's mental health because many young people find being in school is stressful [8].
- A school-based learning programme taking place in the natural environment was associated with some improvements in attendance rates [22]. Further studies have found improved behaviour amongst children at a special needs school, sustained over two months, following learning in the natural environment [4].

In both adults and children there is evidence that learning in natural environments is associated with the accumulation of social capital and with fostering pride, belonging and involvement in the community [4, 15]. A review of evidence relating to structured sustainability education taking place in the natural environment found it resulted in the promotion of a sense of community within and beyond the school [1].

With respect to approach:

- Structured and progressive approaches to supporting schools in developing their outdoor learning provision have been found to result in more positive outcomes, including enhanced learning, increased creativity and imagination, positive affect and excitement for future sessions [9]. Such approaches might begin with short teaching sessions for children leading up to workshops for teachers. Regular school- and curriculum-based outdoor education programmes may impact positively on social, academic, physical and psychological dimensions [9].
- Substantial numbers of studies suggest that the **role of connectedness with nature in the development of pro-environmental behaviour is key** [10]. Increased participation in nature-based environmental education has been found to be related to improved ecological behaviour where opportunities to connect to nature are provided. In one study, whereas 69% of the variance in behavioural improvement was explained by connectedness to nature, only 2% was explained by environmental knowledge [10].
- **Early-childhood environmental education**, in which nature-rich settings and experiences are key, emphasises play and movement. A systematic review of early-childhood studies found that environmental education supports young children's affective and cognitive growth [12].
- Attending Forest Kindergarten or Forest School is associated with more advanced motor skills [16, 17], higher rates of physical activity [18], positive play behaviours [19], a range of observed developmental outcomes [20] and states of good mental health [21] in children, which is likely to lead to improved attainment.
- Evaluation of the health benefits of the John Muir Award found participants developed more positive attitudes to physical activity (in the short term) [23].

What is the impact of natural spaces in or around the learning environment on learning and associated outcomes?'

Substantial evidence indicates a positive association between children's engagement with local natural spaces and a range of social and educational

outcomes. These spaces might be within school grounds, or they might be local gardens and other green spaces. A greater amount of natural space in or around the learning environment (i.e., the school) is associated with better emotional, behavioural and learning processes and outcomes. One possible explanation is that connectedness with nature plays a significant part in moderating learning and behavioural outcomes [12].

Overall, the evidence is mixed in terms of quality, while some studies account for confounding factors (such as socio-economic status), many have not. However, on balance, the quality of the evidence for these links is significantly stronger than it was when the original note was produced in 2016.

While there has been no systematic assessment of the importance of the type of environment on learning outcomes, there is some evidence that certain environments (such as forests or other wild spaces) do appear to afford beneficial experiences and outcomes:

- A review found that the specific use of **woods or forests** as settings was associated with the acquisition of academic, social and personal skills, increases in confidence and self-esteem, and improvements in physical skills [6].
- **Greener school environments** (such as the presence of natural features in the playground) have been linked with better motor skills [14], psychological restoration [27], and rates of physical activity [28].
- Evidence from Spain suggests that greater access to green and blue public spaces was positively associated with a range of behavioural indicators [24] and with cognitive development [25] in school children.
- Children who moved to homes with better access to natural environments tended to have higher levels of cognitive functioning than others who moved to areas with less access [26].
- There is some evidence of an association between high levels of 'connectedness to nature' in children aged 10-11 years and higher achievement in English examinations (though not for mathematics) [29]. Nature connection is important for children's healthy social-emotional development [12].

What are the impacts of the use of natural environments for learning on inequalities, socio-demographic, gender and other factors?

We know little about the impacts of engaging with or learning in the natural environment on social inequality. There is some evidence that the most deprived children would appear to stand to gain the most, in terms of cognitive functioning, from an improvement in their surroundings.

- Children whose homes improved the most in terms of greenness following relocation also tended to have the highest levels of cognitive functioning following the move [51]. This finding suggests that the most deprived children stand to gain the most from an improvement in their surroundings.
- There is a disparity in who participates in learning in natural environments, with individual studies suggesting that children from poorer families, ethnic minorities, and those with low incomes in adulthood are less likely to have the opportunity to engage in learning in natural environments, potentially widening inequalities [1, 30, 34].
- Evidence suggests that targeted opportunities such as the John Muir Award may provide a route to wider participation for such groups [23].

Reviews of the literature suggest that the relationship between learning in and around natural spaces and learning and health outcomes do seem to differ according to socio-demographic characteristics such as gender, socio-economic status, and age [2]. Learning in natural environments may be of particular benefit to specific groups such as children suffering mental distress, those with low self-perceived social and personal skills [30], children on the autistic spectrum [3] and those with other special needs [4].

- A study of the use of forest environments in educational settings for boys aged 10-12 years suffering extreme mental trauma found increased levels of trust, exploratory activity and social cohesion [31].
- Use of educational adventure activities in natural environments as a tool to develop resilience in university students was found to be beneficial only for female students [32].
- The use of the natural environment as a setting to deliver formal school lessons (for children aged 6-11 years) was associated with (weak) positive impacts to the mental health of the boys taking part, however no impacts were detected in the girls [33].
- A review found evidence of the potential for school-based learning in natural environments to support the delivery of the curriculum, for wider personal, social and health education, and the development of social skills and wellbeing amongst autistic children [3].

A review of risky play did not find any consistent gender patterns in outcomes where those analyses were conducted [41]. A Danish experimental study of the physical activity outcomes of education outside the classroom found gender differences, with significant differences in rates of moderate to vigorous physical activity found for boys but not girls [46].

• One review found more positive associations with socio-emotional development in urban populations and children with psychological disorders such as ADHD [35]. They also found some evidence that factors such as sex, socioeconomic status and cultural background mediated outcomes.

- The quasi-experimental study of the prosocial behavioural outcomes of Danish education out of the classroom found lower SES students benefitted to a greater degree [45].
- The same study found that "a higher number of shorter EOtC (Education Outside the Classroom) sessions decreased the positive impacts of EOtC" [45].

What is the cost effectiveness of learning in natural environments?

There is currently very little evidence regarding the cost-effectiveness of learning in the natural environment [1].

What are the impacts of learning in and around natural environments on health outcomes?

The stronger association between various health and wellbeing outcomes in experimental studies of learning activities and interventions, as compared to more general neighbourhood exposure studies, suggest that the context and motivation for activity in natural environments may drive benefits [35].

Physical health

There appear to be relatively few studies which have considered the physical health benefits of participation in education in the outdoors and associated activities, fewer still which have been conducted using the types, designs and methodologies which allow us to be confident about likely generalisable impacts.

- One review identified just five studies, these related to Body Mass Index (BMI; a measure of adiposity) and psychophysiological stress in their expansive study, all of which were at serious risk of bias [14].
- In relation to BMI, whilst there was a reduction for a group undertaking adventure education, it was not significant in comparison to that of the control group [14].

Physical activity

Systematic reviews have shown some evidence that total time spent in the outdoors (including that accrued through the school day) is positively associated with higher levels of physical activity, in comparison to other settings, during childhood [36, 37]. Outdoor time has also been linked to other outcomes such as improved cardio-respiratory health [37].

There is evidence that outdoor activity in educational settings [13, 38], and specifically that resulting from 'nature based activities' in settings ranging from

school grounds to forests, are also associated with **higher rates of activity** than that of other settings [13].

- A review of experimental studies of nature-based activities, which included those in educational contexts (ranging from Forest School to outdoor adventure programmes), found some evidence of higher intensities of physical activity following nature-based activities in comparison to control settings in a small number of studies [35].
- A review of 'regular compulsory school- and curriculum-based outdoor education programmes' found only a very small number of studies (two, of moderate to low quality) which considered physical activity outcomes, both of which indicated positive impacts [6].
- A review of rates of physical activity during 'outdoor play' in early years settings found mixed evidence; with some studies finding participants were highly active, while others finding the children were predominantly sedentary [38]. A further review of unstructured nature play in early years settings found some evidence of positive impacts on physical activity outcomes, though the evidence was weak [39].
- The majority of the studies considered in a review of 'green exercise' in childhood (activities ranging from orienteering to walking) found no evidence of benefit in psychosocial or physiological outcomes over activity undertaken in other settings [40].
- A review of 'risky outdoor play' (e.g., activities involving climbing, contact with water or fire) in supportive environments (such as in an educational context or setting) found some evidence of a link with greater amounts of, and more intensive, physical activity [41]. However, the evidence base is inconsistent with some studies finding no effect.
- It has been suggested that outdoor play and activities, including those in educational settings, are linked with higher total amounts and intensities of activity through a number of pathways [42]. These include the greater affordances of more complex environments, children's motivation and interest to use the setting, and higher levels of reported 'fun' and enjoyment when taking part [42].

Mental health

There is some, though mixed, evidence that exposure to nature, including through various different pathways including educational activities, is positively associated with better mental health outcomes in children and teenagers [43, 44]. A review found that the most consistent relationships were found for resilience, stress and overall mental health [44]. However, findings were, on the whole, non-significant for other outcomes such as emotional well-being, self-esteem, and depression [44].

• A systemic review and synthesis of 'immersive nature experiences', which includes activities such as adventure therapy, outdoor residential experiences and education outside the classroom, found some evidence (typically of low quality) of improved participant self-esteem in comparison to control groups or conditions [14]. Similarly, immersive experiences were linked to increased self-efficacy, though again the quality of the evidence

was low. For all outcomes reported in one review, the studies included found no effect or change that was not significantly greater than that seen in a control group [14].

- The same review found mixed evidence of impacts to mood following participation in nature-based activities, with some positive outcomes following Forest School, but no evidence of effect for physical activity in nature [14].
- A further review concluded that there is 'emerging' evidence of positive impacts of nature-based learning on a range of mental health, wellbeing and social outcomes [13]. Currently there are few studies which have investigated mental health, wellbeing and social outcomes, and the existing evidence is heterogenous. This means there is low certainty in terms of the outcomes of specific activities and for specific populations [13].
- A review of regular compulsory school- and curriculum-based outdoor education programmes found just one study which had investigated mental health outcomes (parental reporting of psychiatric symptoms) resulting from participation [6]. A positive impact to primary aged boys' mental health, but not girls, was found.
- A non-randomised experimental study found significant increases in motivational regulation following a semester of education outside of the classroom [8].

Social, behavioural and developmental

There is some evidence that regular compulsory school- and curriculum-based outdoor education programmes, such as Forest School, are linked with more positive social competencies such as self-esteem, self-confidence, trusting relationships, and sense of belonging [6]. However, again, the evidence is mixed and subject to various sources of bias.

- A review of immersive nature experiences found some evidence of positive impacts to a range of social and behavioural outcomes, however, again, the evidence was considered to be weak [14].
- A review of experimental and exposure studies indicated that time spent in natural environments often as part of educational programmes is associated with some evidence of benefits to socio-emotional development [35]. The authors note, however, that the evidence is inconsistent and the quality of studies is poor.
- A quasi-experimental study found that, following education out of the classroom over a school year (Danish children aged 9-13 years), demonstrated greater improvements to pro-social behaviours over controls [45]. It also found no significant associations with alteration of emotional problems, hyperactivity-inattention, or peer problems [45].

Strengths and limitations of the evidence base

Unlike the research into learning outside the classroom and educational outcomes, the evidence base for health impacts is still relatively weak, with few study designs used that can identify causal relationships between education in the outdoors and relevant health outcomes [13, 37, 47]. Many studies are cross-sectional [14, 44]. There are wider methodological issues including small sample sizes, poor description of the activity and limited use of reliable and robust outcomes measures [13, 35]. Many of the studies that use experimental designs are at risk of some or serious sources of bias, such as not randomising allocation or inappropriate statistical tests (e.g., ones which do not take account of the potential for nonindependence of the data) [14, 35]. The potential for publication bias in the literature has been noted by some reviewers [12, 35]. The potential for detection bias in relation to outcomes such as mood, physical wellbeing and stress has been noted [35]. This factor may partially account for the lack of clarity in the evidence base. Currently, the evidence is not of a scale to indicate the most effective nature based educational setting or activity for health outcomes [13, 44]. We do not have enough evidence to fully understand factors affecting outcomes for different populations including adults [6], people with disabilities, without employment or not in education [4].

Implications for policy, service delivery and research

Policy and service delivery

The weight of available evidence suggests that learning that takes place in the natural environment results in or is associated with a range of positive outcomes for school children, and should, therefore, be supported [1, 2, 4]. In some cases, the evidence suggests that learning in the natural environment is more effective than learning inside school [4] at least in the short term. The evidence for a positive impact on learning outcomes for adults is not as strong and this is a gap in the evidence base.

Embedding outdoor learning into teachers' practices has been facilitated when delivery was tailored to meet individual school needs, had senior leadership support, and was regularly monitored and evaluated [9]. Evidence from the Natural Connections project confirms that teachers' knowledge, confidence and skills are critical enablers of students' engagement with the natural environment [53].

Extra attention should be paid to supporting participation of those children from families with low incomes [30, 34] to ensure parity in opportunity to participate [3]. Natural environment learning providers and commissioners should continue to improve the participation of underrepresented groups, those with experience of

trauma, children who need less conventional learning settings and those who have greater developmental needs [23].

Planners and developers could further consider the role of greener living and educational settings on learning related outcomes. However, it should not be assumed that green spaces, including in school grounds, will be used unless appropriate to user needs and people are confident in their use [48]. The involvement of end-users in a design or modification phase would increase the likelihood that the space is appropriate for use as a learning context.

In the development of policies or delivery strategies, greater attention should be paid to clarifying and articulating how the use of the natural environment as a setting for learning is likely to be beneficial as this would help define the activity, anticipated outcomes and guide evaluative work [4, 49].

- In a Dutch study, teachers identified a number of barriers to integrating learning in the natural environment into their schools, including the lack of any formal status for learning outside the classroom in their teaching practice and their levels of confidence in teaching outdoors [50].
- In a Canadian study into teachers' experiences of barriers and supports for outdoor learning. Four interrelated themes were identified: 1) *Teacher characteristics*: interest/motivation to teach outdoors, preparedness, confidence in handling risks; 2) *Systemic factors*: principal support, school/district policies, funding/resources, curriculum, school schedule; 3) *Culture*: school culture, societal beliefs about education, family backgrounds; 4) *Environmental factors*: weather, built/natural environment, hazards [38].
- Continued engagement within the sector through strategic policy, practice and research hubs, focusing on learning in the natural environment, will facilitate the collation and sharing of existing research, the prioritisation of future research needs, and improvement in the alignment between policy, service delivery, practice and emerging research [30].

Research

COVID-19, and the measures brought in to minimise its spread, have increased our awareness of the value of engaging with the natural world. This realisation comes at a time when there is a growing consensus that education about the environment and sustainability is increasingly important for our future. The Government's strategy for sustainability and climate change education is likely to lead to a focus on improving school grounds supported by a climate leaders award. These initiatives will provide an opportunity for longitudinal research into the impact of national policy on environmental behaviours and improvements in the school estate and beyond.

While there is substantial evidence of the beneficial impact of learning and engaging with the natural environment on learning and health, there are still gaps in our knowledge. Some of these gaps reflect the challenges faced by researchers in identifying causality in complex educational situations.

Developing our understanding of structured and progressive support for change in schools would seem to be a priority for further research. The relative impacts of

leadership support, developing teachers' confidence and knowledge in terms of engaging with the natural environment appear to be critical in the efficacy of interventions.

The idea of connection with nature is increasingly being used as a tool to inform school based learning in natural environments. For more detail on the evidence around nature connection, please see the Natural England evidence note on Connection to Nature.

Not all engagement with the natural environment leads to more positive attitudes or pro-environment behaviours and we need to increase our understanding of why some people are more affected than others [52]. We also need to understand factors affecting outcomes for different populations including adults [6], people with disabilities, without employment or not in education [4].

Although much is known about short-term impacts, far less is known about longer term outcomes and this is an area that needs support from funders.

There is still a lack of research that looks at the impact of engagement with the natural environment on educational and health outcomes in the same study and the links between the two. At the moment, the two are treated as being independent whereas this is unlikely to be the case as it is widely accepted that education and health are intimately linked.

References

- 1. Dillon, J., & Dickie, I. (2012). *Learning in the natural environment: Review of social and economic benefits and barriers*. Natural England.
- Rickinson, M., Dillon, J., Teamey, K., Morris, M., Choi, M. Y., Sanders, D., & Benefield, P. (2004). A review of research on outdoor learning. Field Studies Council.
- 3. Blakesley, D., Rickinson, M., & Dillon, J. (2012). Benefits of engagement with the natural environment for children with autism Review of the evidence. Report commissioned by Natural England. Natural England.
- Fiennes, C., Oliver, E., Dickson, K., Escobar, D., Romans, A., & Oliver, S. (2015). *The existing evidence-base about the effectiveness of outdoor learning*. Institute of Outdoor Learning.
- Ohly, H., Gentry, S., Wigglesworth, R., Bethel, A., Lovell, R., & Garside, R. (2016). A systematic review of the health and well-being impacts of school gardening: synthesis of quantitative and qualitative evidence. *BMC Public Health*, *16*(1), 1–36.
- Becker, C., Lauterbach, G., Spengler, S., Dettweiler, U., & Mess, F. (2017). Effects of regular classes in outdoor education settings: A systematic review on students' learning, social and health dimensions. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *14*(5), 485. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14050485</u>
- Bølling, M., Otte, C. R., Elsborg, P., Nielsen, G., & Bentsen, P. (2018). The association between education outside the classroom and students' school motivation: Results from a one-school-year quasi-experiment. *International Journal of Educational Research*. 89, 22–35.
- 8. Ellinger, J., Mess, F., Blaschke, S., & Mall, C. (2022). Health-related quality of life, motivational regulation and basic psychological need satisfaction in

education outside the classroom: an explorative longitudinal pilot study. *BMC Public Health*, 22, 49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-12450-9</u>

- Harris, M. A. (2021). Growing among trees: A 12-month process evaluation of school based outdoor learning interventions. *Journal of Adventure Education* and Outdoor Learning. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14729679.2021.2001758</u>
- Otto, S., & Pensini, P. (2017). Nature-based environmental education of children: Environmental knowledge and connectedness to nature, together, are related to ecological behaviour. *Global Environmental Change*. 47, 88–94.
- Kuo, M., Barnes, M., & Jordan, C. (2019). Do experiences with nature promote learning? Converging evidence of a cause-and-effect relationship. *Frontiers in Psychology*. 10, 305. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00305</u>
- Ardoin, N. M., & Bowers, A. W. (2020). Early childhood environmental education: A systematic review of the research literature. *Educational Research Review*, *31*, 100353. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2020.100353</u>
- Miller, N. C., Kumar, S., Pearce, K. L., & Baldock, K. L. (2021). The outcomes of nature-based learning for primary school aged children: a systematic review of quantitative research. *Environmental Education Research*, 27(8), 1115–1140. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2021.1921117</u>
- 14. Mygind, L., Kjeldsted, E., Hartmeyer, R. D., Mygind, E., Bølling, M., & Bentsen, P. (2019). Immersive nature-experiences as health promotion interventions for healthy, vulnerable, and sick populations? A systematic review and appraisal of controlled studies. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10.3389. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00943
- 15. Lovell, R., O'Brien, L., & Owen, R. (2010). *Review of the research evidence in relation to the role of trees and woods in formal education and learning.* Forest Research.
- Scholz, U., & Krombholz, H. (2007). A study of the physical performance ability of children from wood kindergartens and from regular kindergartens. *Motorik Mar*, 1, 17–22.
- 17. Fjørtoft, I. (2004). Landscape as playscape: The effects of natural environments on children's play and motor development. *Children, Youth and Environments*, *14*(2), 21–44.
- Lovell, R. (2009). An evaluation of physical activity at Forest School. School of Clinical Sciences and Community Health. [Doctoral thesis]. The University of Edinburgh.
- Ridgers, N. D., Knowles, Z. R., & Sayers, J. Encouraging play in the natural environment: a child-focused case study of Forest School. *Children's Geographies*, *10*(1), 49-65.
- 20. O'Brien, L. (2009). Learning outdoors: The Forest School approach. *Education 3-13*, *37*(1), 45–60.
- 21. Roe, J., & Aspinall, P. (2011). The restorative outcomes of forest school and conventional school in young people with good and poor behaviour. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, *10*(3), 205–212.
- 22. Price, A. (2015). Improving school attendance: can participation in outdoor learning influence attendance for young people with social, emotional and behavioural difficulties? *Journal of Adventure Education and Outdoor Learning*, *15*(2),110–122.
- 23. Mitchell, R., & Shaw, R. (2015). *Health Impacts of the John Muir Award*. University of Glasgow.

- Amoly, E., Dadvand, P., Forns, J., López-Vicente, M., Basagaña, X., Julvez, J., ... & Sunyer, J. (2014). Green and blue spaces and behavioral development in Barcelona schoolchildren: the BREATHE project. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 122(12), 1351–1358.
- Dadvand, P., Nieuwenhuijsen, M. J., Esnaola, M., Forns, J., Basagaña, X., Alvarez-Pedrerol, M., ... & Sunyer, J. (2015). Green spaces and cognitive development in primary schoolchildren. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 112(26), 7937–7942.
- 26. Wells, N. M. (2000). At home with nature: Effects of "greenness" on children's cognitive functioning. *Environment and Behavior*. 32(6), 775–795. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00139160021972793</u>
- 27. Bagot, K. L., Allen, F. C. L., & Toukhsati, S. (2015). Perceived restorativeness of children's school playground environments: Nature, playground features and play period experiences. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, *41*, 1–9.
- Fjørtoft, I., Kristoffersen, B., & Sageie, J. (2009). Children in schoolyards: Tracking movement patterns and physical activity in schoolyards using global positioning system and heart rate monitoring. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 93(3–4), 210–217.
- 29. Richardson, M., Sheffield, D., Harvey, C., & Petronzi, D. (2016). *The impact of children's connection to nature: A report for the Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB)*. RSPB.
- 30. Scrutton, R. A. (2015). Outdoor adventure education for children in Scotland: quantifying the benefits. *Journal of Adventure Education and Outdoor Learning*, *15*(2), 123–137.
- Roe, J., & Aspinall, P. (2011). The emotional affordances of forest settings: An investigation in boys with extreme behavioural problems. *Landscape Research*, *36*(5), 535–552.
- Warren, K., Roberts, N. S., Breunig, M., & Alvarez, M. A. G. (2014). Social justice in outdoor experiential education: A state of knowledge review. *Journal* of Experiential Education, 37(1), 89–103.
- Gustafsson, P. E., Szczepanski, A., Nelson, N., & Gustafsson, P. A. (2012). Effects of an outdoor education intervention on the mental health of schoolchildren. *Journal of Adventure Education & Outdoor Learning*, *12*(1), 63–79.
- 34. Natural England. (2016). *Monitor of engagement with the natural environment: A pilot to develop an indicator of visits to the natural environment by children.* NECR 208. Natural England.
- 35. Mygind, L., Kurtzhals, M., Nowell, C., Melby, P. S., Stevenson, M. P., Nieuwenhuijsen, M., Lum, J. A. G., Flensborg-Madsen, T., Bentsen, P., & Enticott, P. G. (2021). Landscapes of becoming social: A systematic review of evidence for associations and pathways between interactions with nature and socioemotional development in children. *Environment International*, 146, 106238. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106238</u>
- Bingham, D. D., Costa, S., Hinkley, T., Shire, K. A., Clemes, S. A., & Barber, S. E. (2016). Physical activity during the early years: A systematic review of correlates and determinants. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *51*, 384–402. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2016.04.022</u>
- 37. Gray, C., Gibbons, R., Larouche, R., Sandseter, E. B. H., Bienenstock, A., Brussoni, M., Chabot, G., Herrington, S., Janssen, I., Pickett, W., Power, M., Stanger, N., Sampson, M., & Tremblay, M. S. (2015). What Is the relationship between outdoor time and physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and

physical fitness in children? A systematic review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *12*, 6455–6474. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120606455</u>

- Truelove, S., Bruijns, B. A., Vanderloo, L. M., O'Brien, K. T., Johnson, A. M., & Tucker, P. (2018). Physical activity and sedentary time during childcare outdoor play sessions: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Preventive Medicine*, 108, 74–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.12.022</u>
- Dankiw, K. A., Tsiros, M. D., Baldock, K. L., & Kumar, S. (2020). The impacts of unstructured nature play on health in early childhood development: A systematic review. *PLOS ONE 15*, e0229006. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0229006</u>
- 40. Mnich, C., Weyland, S., Jekauc, D., & Schipperijn, J. (2019). Psychosocial and physiological health outcomes of green exercise in children and adolescents—A systematic review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*, 4266. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16214266
- 41. Brussoni, M., Gibbons, R., Gray, C., Ishikawa, T., Sandseter, E. B. H., Bienenstock, A., Chabot, G., Fuselli, P., Herrington, S., Janssen, I., Pickett, W., Power, M., Stanger, N., Sampson, M., & Tremblay, M. S. (2015). What is the relationship between risky outdoor play and health in children? A systematic review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *12*, 6423–6454. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120606423</u>
- Herrington, S., & Brussoni, M. (2015). Beyond physical activity: The importance of play and nature-based play spaces for children's health and development. *Current Obesity Reports, 4*, 477–483. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13679-015-0179-2</u>
- 43. Davis, Z., Guhn, M., Jarvis, I., Jerrett, M., Nesbitt, L., Oberlander, T., Sbihi, H., Su, J., & van den Bosch, M. (2021). The association between natural environments and childhood mental health and development: A systematic review and assessment of different exposure measurements. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 235, 113767. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2021.113767
- 44. Tillmann, S., Tobin, D., Avison, W., & Gilliland, J. (2018). Mental health benefits of interactions with nature in children and teenagers: a systematic review. *Journal of Epidemiological Community Health, 72*, 958–966. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jech-2018-210436</u>
- 45. Bølling, M., Mygind, E., Mygind, L., Bentsen, P., & Elsborg, P. (2021). The association between education outside the classroom and physical activity: Differences attributable to the type of space? *Children*, 8, 486. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/children8060486</u>
- Schneller, M. B., Duncan, S., Schipperijn, J., Nielsen, G., Mygind, E., & Bentsen, P. (2017). Are children participating in a quasi-experimental education outside the classroom intervention more physically active? *BMC Public Health*, 17, 523. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4430-5</u>
- Roberts, A., Hinds, J., & Camic, P. M. (2020). Nature activities and wellbeing in children and young people: a systematic literature review. *Journal of Adventure Education and Outdoor Learning*, 20, 298–318. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14729679.2019.1660195</u>
- Mårtensson, F., Jansson, M., Johansson, M., Raustorp, A., Kylin, M., & Boldemann, C. (2014). The role of greenery for physical activity play at school grounds. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 13(1), 103–113.

- 49. Dillon, J., Rickinson, M., Teamey, K., Morris, M., Choi, M. Y., Sanders, D., & Benefield, P. (2006). The value of outdoor learning: evidence from research in the UK and elsewhere, School Science Review, *87*(320), 107–111.
- 50. van Dijk-Wesselius, J. E., van Den Berg, A. E., Maas, J., & Hovinga, D. (2020). Green schoolyards as outdoor learning environments: Barriers and solutions as experienced by primary school teachers. *Frontiers in Psychology*. 10, 2919. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02919</u>
- Oberle, E., Zeni, M., Munday, F., & Brussoni, M. (2021). Support factors and barriers for outdoor learning in elementary schools: A systemic perspective. *American Journal of Health Education*. 52(5), 251–265, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19325037.2021.1955232</u>
- 52. Natural England (2021). *The children's people and nature survey for England: Summer Holidays 2021* (Official Statistics). <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/the-childrens-people-and-nature-survey-for-england-summer-holidays-2021-official-statistics/the-childrens-people-and-nature-statistics/the-childrens-people-and-nature-statistics}</u>
- 53. Waite, S. et al. (2016). *Natural Connections Demonstration Project (NCDP) Final Report*. Natural England.

Natural England is here to secure a healthy natural environment for people to enjoy, where wildlife is protected and England's traditional landscapes are safeguarded for future generations.

Natural England publications are available as accessible pdfs from www.gov.uk/natural-england.

Should an alternative format of this publication be required, please contact our enquiries line for more information: 0300 060 3900 or email enquiries@naturalengland.org.uk.

Catalogue code: EIN063

This publication is published by Natural England under the Open Government Licence v3.0 for public sector information. You are encouraged to use, and reuse, information subject to certain conditions. For details of the licence visit <u>www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/opengovernment-licence/version/3</u>.

Please note: Natural England photographs are only available for noncommercial purposes. For information regarding the use of maps or data visit <u>www.gov.uk/how-to-access-natural-</u> <u>englands-maps-and-data</u>.

© Natural England 2022

